

[image: cover.jpg]









 


Daniel P. Schreber


 


MEMOIRS OF MY NERVOUS ILLNESS


 


Original Title:


“enkwürdigkeiten eines Nervenkranken”


 


First Edition 


 


[image: img1.jpg]




Contents


INTRODUCTION 


PREFACE


OPEN LETTER TO PROFESSOR FLECHISG


MEMOIRS


INTRODUCTION


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21 


22


POSTSCRIPTS TO THE "MEMOIRS"


FIRST SERIES


SECOND SERIES


APPENDIX


ESSAY


ADDENDA


A


B


C


D


E




INTRODUCTION 


[image: img2.jpg]


Daniel Schreber


1842-1911


 


Daniel Paul Schreber (1842-1911) came from a family of affluent and cultured Protestant bourgeois who, as early as the 18th century, sought fame through intellectual work. Many of his ancestors left written works on Law, Economics, Pedagogy, and Natural Sciences, where concerns with morality and the welfare of humanity were recurring themes. The books of his great-grandfather bore the motto "We write for posterity." His father, Daniel Gottlieb Moritz Schreber (1808-1861), was an orthopedic doctor and pedagogue, author of about twenty books on gymnastics, hygiene, and children's education.


He preached a rigid and relentlessly moralistic educational doctrine, aiming to exercise complete control over all aspects of life, from eating habits to the spiritual life of the future citizen. He believed that his work would contribute to perfecting God's creation and human society.


To ensure the child's upright posture at all times of the day, including during sleep, D. G. M. Schreber designed and built several orthopedic devices made of iron and leather. Spiritual rectitude was the result of early learning of all forms of emotional restraint and the radical suppression of so-called immoral feelings, naturally including all manifestations of sexuality.


 


Schreber, the Jurist


 


Schreber's career as a jurist, an official in the Ministry of Justice of the Kingdom of Saxony, progressed regularly, with successive promotions obtained by direct appointment or internal election. His first position was that of deputy clerk, then auditor of the Court of Appeal, assessor of the Tribunal, counselor of the Court of Appeal. In 1884, he became vice-president of the Regional Court of Chemnitz.


His ambition probably required more, as on October 28, 1884, he ran for parliamentary elections for the National Liberal Party. He suffered a crushing defeat. He was 42 years old, had been married for six years, and had a nineteen-year legal career. A Saxon newspaper published an ironic article about his electoral defeat, titled: “Who knows this Dr. Schreber?” For someone raised in the proud worship of his ancestors' merits and witnessing his father's celebrity, this article stamped the public face of his anonymity as an insult.


 


The Encounter with Flechsig


 


On December 8, 1884, Schreber was admitted to the clinic for nervous diseases at the University of Leipzig, then directed by Prof. Paul Emil Flechsig, one of the greatest authorities in Psychiatry and Neurology of the time. In his Memoirs, Schreber briefly refers to this episode. He mentions a hypochondriacal crisis with ideas of emaciation, "without any incident related to the supernatural." Today, we know that the situation was more serious, with unsystematized delusional manifestations and two suicide attempts. It was his first hospitalization, but not his first hypochondriacal crisis: there are vague references to a hypochondriacal episode in 1878, at the time of his marriage. Prof. Flechsig's science treated Schreber's drama with the medicinal resources of the time: morphine, chloral hydrate, camphor, and potassium bromide.


Schreber followed in his father's footsteps. In 1893, at the age of 51, he received a visit from a minister personally announcing his imminent appointment to a lifetime position that would represent, for him, the peak and final point of his career, and which, despite honoring him, brought him concern:


“This task became more difficult and also required greater efforts of tact in personal relationships because the members of the college (composed of five judges), whose presidency I was to assume, far surpassed me in age and were, at least in certain aspects, more familiar than I was with the practice of the Court in which I was debuting” (Schreber, 1903/1985, p. 60).


The autobiographical account of Daniel Paul Schreber has become one of the most used resources for the study of psychosis, given that his delusions are described in great detail.


Initially, Schreber presented intense weakness that hindered his mobility and a sensation of imminent heart attack. He then began to feel persecuted by Flechsig, a doctor for whom he had, until then, immense gratitude. He believed that the world had ended and only he had survived as a man. Then, God assumed the role of the enemy who demanded his emasculation: he would have to transform into a woman, be fertilized by divine rays, and create a new race of men. By direct inspiration from God and based on the Order of Things, he was to redeem the world and restore its lost state of bliss.


 


Chronology – Daniel Paul Schreber


1842 — Daniel Paul Schreber is born in Leipzig on July 25, son of orthopedic doctor Daniel Gottlieb Moritz Schreber (1808-1861) and Louise Henrietta Pauline Haase (1815-1907).


1858 — An iron bar falls on his father's head, resulting in irreversible brain damage.


1861 — In November, his father dies of intestinal obstruction at the age of 53. In his last years, he presents a severe obsessive neurosis with homicidal impulses. Already a famous doctor in Germany and abroad—due to his books on pedagogy, gymnastics, and hygiene—he dies in Leipzig.


1877 — On May 8, Daniel Gustav, D. P. Schreber's older brother, commits suicide with a gunshot at the age of 38, shortly after being appointed court counselor (Gerichtsrat).


1878 — Daniel Paul marries Ottilie Sabine Behr (1857-1912), fifteen years younger than him. Diabetic, she is described as having a childlike temperament, giving her husband very little support during his illness. Ottilie Sabine did not give children to Daniel Paul; she had six miscarriages. At the time of their marriage, it is reported that Schreber suffered a hypochondriacal episode, but without hospitalization.


1884 — Schreber is appointed vice-president of the Regional Court of Chemnitz. On October 28, he runs for parliamentary elections for the National Liberal Party and suffers a crushing defeat. On December 8, he is admitted to the clinic for nervous diseases at the University of Leipzig, whose director is Prof. Paul Emil Flechsig, one of the greatest authorities in Neurology and Psychiatry of the time. The diagnosis is hypochondria. The hospitalization lasts six months.


1885 — In June, hospital discharge with apparent cure. Schreber and his wife go on a long convalescence trip that lasts until the end of the year.


1886 — Schreber resumes professional activities in Leipzig, where he was transferred during the hospitalization period, as president judge of the Regional Court.


1888 — Schreber receives an official honor: the Knight's Cross of the First Class.


1889 — Appointed president of the Court of Freiberg, he moves to that city.


1891 — For two consecutive years (1891 and 1892), he is elected by his peers as a member of the Freiberg District Board.


1893 — In June, he receives a visit from the Minister of Justice, who announces his imminent appointment as Senatspräsident (president judge of the Court of Appeal) in the city of Dresden, where Schreber immediately moves with his wife. He takes office on October 1. On November 10, he travels with Ottilie Sabine to Leipzig to consult once more with Prof. Flechsig. He complains of anguish and unbearable insomnia. For ten days, Flechsig tries to treat him at home, without results. On November 21, Schreber is hospitalized again in the clinic of the University of Leipzig, where he will stay for six months.


1894 — Schreber is placed under provisional guardianship due to mental illness. From June 14 to 28, he stays at the Lindenhof hospital, mentioned in the Memoirs as "the devil's kitchen," and directed by Dr. Pierson. On June 29, he is admitted to the Sonnenstein sanatorium, where he will remain until 1902, diagnosed with dementia paranoides.


1899 — In October, Schreber begins to take an interest in his legal situation and denounces the provisional guardianship under which he finds himself as irregular. He initiates a process to recover his civil capacity.


1900 — From February to September, he writes the twenty-three chapters of the Memoirs. In March, the first court ruling is unfavorable to the request to lift the guardianship and the legal interdiction is declared definitive. Schreber appeals the decision. From June this year until October 1901, he writes the first series of supplements to the Memoirs.


1902 — On July 14, the Court of Appeal finally grants the lifting of the interdiction and Schreber regains full civil capacity. At the end of the year, he writes the second series of supplements and the introduction. In December, he is discharged from the hospital.


1903 — Writes an open letter to Prof. Flechsig. The Schreber couple moves to Dresden and adopts a 13-year-old girl. With cuts and the suppression of one chapter, the Memoirs of My Nervous Illness are published in Leipzig by O. Mutze.


1907 — In May, Schreber's mother dies at the age of 92. Daniel Paul handles the legal matters related to the inventory. In early November, Schreber is approached by representatives of the "Schreber Associations" who seek recognition of their legitimacy. On November 14, Schreber's wife suffers a stroke that results in aphasia for four days. Schreber enters a crisis of anguish and insomnia and claims to be relapsing. On November 27, he is admitted to the Dösen sanatorium, near Leipzig.


1911 — On April 14, Daniel Paul Schreber dies at the age of 69 in the Dösen sanatorium.




MEMOIRS OF MY NERVOUS ILLNESS





PREFACE


I started this work without having publication in mind. The idea only occurred to me as I progressed with it; however, I did not conceal from myself doubts which seemed to stand in the way of publication: mainly consideration for certain persons still living. Yet I believe that expert examination of my body and observation of my personal fate during my lifetime would be of value both for science and the knowledge of religious truths. In the face of such considerations all personal issues must recede.


Of the whole work the following were written:


The Memoirs themselves (Chapters 1-22) in the period February to September 1900.


Postscripts 1-8 in the period October 1900 to June 1901.


Postscripts second series at the end of 1902.


The outward circumstances of my life have materially changed since the early beginnings of this work. While at the beginning I was living in almost prison-like isolation, separated from contact with educated people, excluded even from the family table of the Director (to which so-called boarders of the Asylum were admitted), never able to get outside the walls of the Asylum, etc., I have gradually been granted increasing freedom of movement, and contact with educated people has been made increasingly possible. Finally I was completely successful in winning the proceedings against my tutelage (albeit in the Second Instance) as mentioned in Chapter 20, inasmuch as the decree of 13th March 1900 placing me under tutelage issued by the District Court, Dresden, was rescinded by the final judgment of the Superior Country Court, Dresden, of 14th July 1902. My legal capacity was thereby acknowledged and free disposition of my properties restored to me. With regard to my stay in the Asylum, for months I have been in possession of a written declaration from the Asylum Authorities that there was now no opposition in principle to my discharge; I am planning therefore to return to my house and home probably early next year.


A! these changes have afforded me the opportunity of considerably widening the range of my personal observations. Accordingly some of my earlier opinions need revision: in particular I can no longer doubt that the so-called "play-with-human-beings" (the effect of miracles) is limited to myself and to whatever constitutes my immediate environment at the time. I might perhaps have formulated some passages of my Memoirs differently now. Nevertheless I have left them mainly in the form in which they were written originally. To change certain points now would only prejudice the freshness of the original descriptions. It is also in my opinion of little importance whether, in view of the relationship contrary to the Order of the World which arose between God and myself, ideas which I formed at the time were more or less faulty. A more general interest can in any case be claimed only for those conclusions which I arrived at in consequence of my impressions and experiences about the lasting conditions, about the essence and attributes of God, the immortality of the soul, etc. In this respect I have no reason whatever, even after my subsequent personal experiences, to make the very slightest alteration in the basic ideas set out particularly in chapters I, 2, 18 and 19 of the Memoirs.


SONNENSTEIN ASYLUM, NEAR PIRNA, 


December 1902.


 — The Author



OPEN LETTER TO PROFESSOR FLECHISG


Dear Professor,


I take the liberty of enclosing a copy of "Memoirs of a Patient Suffering from a Nervous Illness," which I have written, and beg you to examine it in a kindly spirit.


You will find your name mentioned frequently, particularly in the first chapter, partly in connection with circumstances which might be painful to you. I very much regret this but unfortunately cannot make any changes without from the very outset precluding making myself understood. In any case it is far from me to attack your honor, as indeed I do not harbor any personal grievance against any person. My aim is solely to further knowledge of truth in a vital field, that of religion.


I am absolutely certain that in this regard I command experiences which — when generally acknowledged as valid — will act fruitfully to the highest possible degree among the rest of mankind. Equally I have no doubt that your name plays an essential role in the genetic development of the circumstances in question, in that certain nerves taken from your nervous system became "tested souls” in the sense described in Chapter 1 of the "Memoirs,” and in this capacity achieved supernatural power by means of which they have for years exerted a damaging influence on me and still do to this day. You like other people may be inclined at first to see nothing but a pathological offspring of my imagination in this; but I have an almost overwhelming amount of proof of its correctness, details of which you will find in the content of my "Memoirs.” I still feel daily and hourly the damaging influence of the miracles of those "tested souls”; the voices that speak to me even now shout your name again and again at me hundreds of times every day in this context, in particular as the instigator of those injuries; and this despite the fact that the personal relations which existed between us for some time have long since receded into the background for me; I could hardly therefore have any reason to keep on thinking of you, especially with any sense of grievance.


For years I have pondered how to reconcile these facts with my respect for your person, whose integrity and moral worth I have not the least right to doubt. Only quite recently however, just before the publication of my book, I had a new idea which might possibly lead to the correct solution of the problem. As remarked at the end of Chapter 4 and the beginning of Chapter 5 of the "Memoirs,” I have not the least doubt that the first impetus to what my doctors always considered mere "hallucinations" but which to me signified communication with supernatural powers, consisted of influences on my nervous system emanating from your nervous system. How could this be explained? I think it is possible that you — at first as I am quite prepared to believe only for therapeutic purposes —  carried on some hypnotic, suggestive, or whatever else one could caU it, contact with my nerves, even while we were separated in space. During this contact you might suddenly have realized that other voices were speaking to me as well, pointing to a supernatural origin. Following this surprising realization you might have continued this contact with me for a time out of scientific interest, until you yourself felt as it were uneasy about it, and therefore decided to break it off. But it is possible that in this process a part of your own nerves — probably unknown to yourself — was removed from your body, a process explicable only in a supernatural manner, and ascended to heaven as a "tested soul" and there achieved some supernatural power. This "tested soul" still endowed with human faults like all impure souls — in accordance with the character of souls which I have come to know with certainty — then simply allowed itself to be driven by the impulse of ruthless self-determination and lust for power, without any restraint by something comparable to the moral will power of man, exactly in the same way as another "tested soul,” that of von W., as recorded in my "Memoirs.” It is possible therefore that all those things which in earlier years I erroneously thought I had to blame you for — particularly the definite damaging effects on my body — are to be blamed only on that "tested soul.” There would then be no need to cast any shadow upon your person and only the mild reproach would perhaps remain that you, like so many doctors, could not completely resist the temptation of using a patient in your care as an object for scientific experiments apart from the real purpose of cure, when by chance matters of the highest scientific interest arose. One might even raise the question whether perhaps all the talk of voices about somebody having committed soul murder can be explained by the souls |rays) deeming it impermissible that a person's nervous system should be influenced by another's to the extent of imprisoning his will power, such as occurs during hypnosis; in order to stress forcefully that this was a malpractice it was called "soul murder,” the souls for lack of a better term, using a term already in current usage, and because of their innate tendency to express themselves hyperbolically.


I need hardly mention of what immeasurable importance it would be if you could in any way confirm the surmises I have sketched above, all the more if they could be substantiated in recollections of earlier years retained in your memory. The rest of my thesis would thereby gain universal credence and would immediately be regarded as a serious scientific problem to be investigated in every possible way.


I beg you therefore, my dear Sir — I might almost say: I implore you — to state without reservation:


(1) Whether during my stay in your Asylum you maintained a hypnotic or similar contact with me in such a way that even when separated in space, you exerted an influence on my nervous system;(2) Whether you thus witnessed in any way communications from voices originating elsewhere, indicating supernatural origin; finally


(3) Whether during my time in your Asylum you yourself also received visions or vision-like impressions particularly in dreams, which dealt amongst others with the almighty power of God and human freedom of will, unmanning, loss of states of Blessedness, my relations and my friends, as well as yours, particularly Daniel Furchtegott Flechsig named in Chapter 6, and many other matters mentioned in my "Memoirs."


I hasten to add that from the numerous communications I received from the voices that talked to me at that time, I have the most weighty indications that you yourself had similar visions.


In appealing to your scientific interest I may be permitted to trust that you will have the courage of truth, even if you had to admit some trifle which could never seriously affect your prestige or authority in the eyes of any sensible person.


In case you want to send me a written communication you may rest assured that I would publish it only with your permission and in a form which you yourself may choose.


In view of the wide interest which the content of this letter may claim, I have thought fit to have it printed in the form of an "open letter" prefacing my "Memoirs."


 


Dresden, March 1903.


Yours sincerely,


Dr. Schreber, Senatsprasident


(retired).





MEMOIRS



INTRODUCTION


I have decided to apply for my release from the Asylum in the near future in order to live once again among civilized people and at home with my wife. It is therefore necessary to give those persons who will then constitute the circle of my acquaintances, an approximate idea at least of my religious conceptions, so that they may have some understanding of the necessity which forces me to various oddities of behavior, even if they do not fully understand these apparent oddities.'


This is the purpose of this manuscript; in it I shall try to give an at least partly comprehensible exposition of supernatural matters, knowledge of which has been revealed to me for almost six years. I cannot of course count upon being fully understood because things are dealt with which cannot be expressed in human language; they exceed human understanding. Nor can I maintain that everything is irrefutably certain even for me: much remains only presumption and probability. After all I too am only a human being and therefore limited by the confines of human understanding; but one thing I am certain of, namely that I have come infinitely closer to the truth than human beings who have not received divine revelation.


To make myself at least somewhat comprehensible I shall have to speak much in images and similes, which may at times perhaps be only approximately correct; for the only way a human being can make supernatural matters, which in their essence must always remain incomprehensible, understandable to a certain degree is by comparing them with known facts of human experience. Where intellectual understanding ends, the domain of belief begins; man must reconcile himself to the fact that things exist which are true although he cannot understand them.


An obvious example is that the concept of eternity is beyond man's grasp. Man cannot really understand that something can exist which has neither beginning nor end, that there can be a cause which cannot itself be traced to a previous cause. And yet eternity is one of God's attributes, which with all religiously minded people I feel I must accept. Man will always be inclined to ask: "If God created the world, how then did God Himself come to be?" This question will forever remain unanswered. The same applies to the concept of divine creation. Man can always only imagine that new matter is created through the influence of forces on matter already in existence, and yet I believe — and I hope to prove in what follows by means of definite examples — that divine creation is a creation out of the void. Even in the dogmas of our positive religion there are certain matters which escape full understanding by the intellect. The Christian teaching that Jesus Christ was the Son of God can be meant only in a mystical sense which but approximates the human sense of these words, because nobody would maintain that God, as a Being endowed with human sexual organs, had intercourse with the woman from whose womb Jesus Christ came forth. The same applies to the doctrine of the Trinity, the Resurrection of the Flesh, and other Christian dogmas. By this I do not in any way wish to imply that I acknowledge as true all Christian dogmas in the sense of our orthodox theology. On the contrary, I have good reason to think that some of them are definitely untrue or true only to a very limited extent. This applies, for instance, to the Resurrection of the Flesh, which could only lay claim to being relatively and temporarily true in the form of transmigration of souls (not representing the ultimate goal of the process), and also to eternal damnation to which some people are supposed to have succumbed. The concept of eternal damnation — which will always remain abhorrent to human feeling notwithstanding the exposition, based on what I consider sophisms by which Luthardt for instance, tried to make it acceptable in his Apologies — does not correspond to the truth, as indeed the whole |human] notion of punishment — as an expeditious weapon for attaining certain purposes within human society —  must in the main be eliminated from our ideas of the life beyond. This, however, can only be examined more closely later.{1}


Before I proceed with the account of how, owing to my illness, I entered into peculiar relations with God — which I hasten to add were in themselves contrary to the Order of the World — I must begin with a few remarks about the nature of God and of the human soul; these can for the time being only be put up as axioms — tenets not requiring proof — and their proof as far as is at all possible can only be attempted later in the book.



1


The human soul is contained in the nerves of the body; about their physical nature I, as a layman, cannot say more than that they are extraordinarily delicate structures —  comparable to the finest filaments — and that the total mental life of a human being rests on their excitability by external impressions. Vibrations are thereby caused in the nerves which produce the sensations of pleasure and pain in a manner which cannot be further explained; they are able to retain the memory of impressions received (the human memory) and have also the power of moving the muscles of the body which they inhabit into any manifest activity by exertion of their will power. From the most tender beginnings (as the fruit of the womb — as a child's soul) they develop to a complex system which embraces the most widespread regions of human knowledge (the soul of mature man). Part of the nerves is adapted solely for receiving sensory impressions (nerves of sight, hearing, taste and voluptuousness, etc., which are therefore only capable of the sensation of light, sound, heat and cold, of the feeling of hunger, voluptuousness and pain, etc.); other nerves |the nerves of intellect) receive and retain mental impressions and as the organs of will, give to the whole human organism the impulse to manifest those of its powers designed to act on the outside world. Circumstances seem to be such that every single nerve of intellect represents the total mental individuality of a human being, that the sum total of recollections is as it were inscribed on each single nerve of intellect{2}; the greater or lesser number of nerves of intellect only influences the length of time for which recollections can be retained. While man is alive, he is body and soul together; the nerves (the soul of man) are nourished and kept in living motion by the body whose function is essentially similar to that of the higher animals. Should the body lose its vitality then the state of unconsciousness, which we call death and which is presaged in sleep, supervenes for the nerves. This, however, does not imply that the soul is really extinguished; rather the impressions received remain attached to the nerves. The soul, as it were, only goes into hibernation as some lower animals do and can be re-awakened to a new life in a manner to be described below.


God to start with is only nerve, not body, and akin therefore to the human soul. But unlike the human body, where nerves are present only in limited numbers, the nerves of God are infinite and eternal. They possess the same qualities as human nerves but in a degree surpassing all human understanding. They have in particular the faculty of transforming themselves into all things of the created world; in this capacity they are called rays; and herein lies the essence of divine creation. An intimate relation exists between God and the starry sky. I dare not decide whether one can simply say that God and the heavenly bodies are one and the same, or whether one has to think of the totality of God's nerves as being above and behind the stars, so that the stars themselves and particularly our sun would only represent stations, through which God's miraculous creative power travels to our earth (and perhaps to other inhabited planets).{3}


Equally I dare not say whether the celestial bodies themselves (fixed stars, planets, etc.) were created by God, or whether divine creation is limited to the organic world; in which case there would be room for the Nebular Hypothesis of Kant-Laplace side by side with the existence of a living God whose existence has become absolute certainty for me. Perhaps the full truth lies (by way of a fourth dimension) in a combination or resultant of both trends of thought impossible for man to grasp. In any case the light and warmth-giving power of the sun, which makes her the origin of all organic life on earth, is only to be regarded as an indirect manifestation of the living God; hence the veneration of the sun as divine by so many peoples since antiquity contains a highly important core of truth even if it does not embrace the whole truth.


The teaching of present-day astronomy about the movements, the distances and the physical properties of the celestial bodies, etc., may in the main be correct. My own personal experiences leave me in doubt however whether even the astronomy of today has grasped the whole truth about the light-and warmth-giving power of the stars and particularly of our sun; perhaps one has to consider her directly or indirectly only as that part of God's miraculous creative power which is directed to the earth. As proof of this statement I will at present only mention the fact that the sun has for years spoken with me in human words and thereby reveals herself as a living being or as the organ of a still higher being behind her. God also regulates the weather; as a rule this is done automatically, so to speak, by the greater or lesser amount of heat emanating from the sun, but He can regulate it in certain ways in pursuit of His own purposes. For instance I have received fairly definite indications that the severe winter of 1870-71 was decided on by God in order to turn the fortunes of war in favor of the Germans; and the proud words on the destruction of Phillip II's Spanish Armada in the year 1588 "Deus afflavit et dissipati sunt" (God blew the wind and they were scattered) most probably also contains a historical truth. In this connection I refer to the sun only as that instrument of God's will power which lies nearest to the earth; in reality the condition of the weather is affected by the sum total of the other stars as well. Winds or storms in particular arise when God moves further away from the earth. In the circumstances contrary to the Order of the World which have now arisen this relation has changed — and I wish to mention this at the outset — the weather is now to a certain extent dependent on my actions and thoughts; as soon as I indulge in thinking nothing, or in other words stop an activity which proves the existence of the human mind such as playing chess in the garden the wind arises at once. To anybody who is inclined to doubt such a fantastic statement, I could almost daily give the opportunity of convincing him of its correctness, as in fact I have recently convinced various people about the so-called attacks of bellowing |the doctor, my wife, my sister, etc.). The reason for this is simply that as soon as I indulge in thinking nothing God, presuming that I am demented, thinks he can withdraw from me.


Through the light emanating from the sun and the other stars, God is able to perceive Iman would say: to see) everything that happens on earth and possibly on other inhabited planets; in this sense one can speak figuratively of the sun and light of the stars as the eye of God. All He sees He enjoys as the fruits of His creative power, much as a human being is pleased with what he has created with his hands or with his mind. Yet things were so ordered — up to the crisis to be described later — that by and large God left the world which He had created and the organic life upon it (plants, animals, human beings) to their own devices and only provided continuous warmth of the sun to enable them to maintain themselves and reproduce, etc. As a rule God did not interfere directly in the fate of peoples or individuals — I call this the state of affairs in accordance with the Order of the World. It could however occur now and then as an exception, but neither did nor could happen too frequently because to draw close to living mankind was connected with certain dangers even for God Himself — for reasons developed further below. For instance a particularly fervent prayer might in a special case induce God to give help by intervening with a miracle{4} or to shape the fate of whole nations |in war, etc.) by means of miracles. He was also able to get into contact |to form "nerve-contact with them" as the voices that speak to me call this process) with highly gifted people (poets, etc.), in order to bless them (particularly in dreams) with some fertilizing thoughts and ideas about the  beyond. But such "nerve-contact" was not allowed to become the rule, as already mentioned, because for reasons which cannot be further elucidated, the nerves of living human beings particularly when in a state of high-grade excitation, have such power of attraction for the nerves of God that He would not be able to free Himself from them again, and would thus endanger His own existence.{5}


Regular contact between God and human souls occurred in the Order of the World only after death. There was no danger for God in approaching corpses in order to draw their nerves, in which self-awareness was not extinct but quiescent, out of their bodies and up to Himself by the power of the rays, thereby awakening them to new heavenly life; self-awareness returned through the influence of the rays. The new life beyond is the state of Blessedness to which the human soul could be raised. But this did not occur without prior purification and sifting of the human nerves which required, according to the variable condition of the respective human souls, a shorter or longer time of preparation, and perhaps even certain intermediate stages. Only pure human nerves were of use to God — or if one prefers, in heaven — because it was their destiny to be attached to God Himself and ultimately to become in a sense part of Him as "forecourts of heaven."{6} The nerves of morally depraved men are blackened; morally pure men have white nerves; the higher a man's moral standard in life, the more his nerves become completely white or pure, an intrinsic property of God's nerves. A greater part of the nerves of morally depraved men is probably useless; this determines the various grades of states of Blessedness to which a human being can attain, and probably also the length of time for which self-awareness in the life beyond can be maintained. Nerves probably always have to undergo purification first, because it would be very difficult to find a human being completely free from sin, that is to say one whose nerves were never defiled by immoral behavior in his earlier life. Not even I can give an exact description of the process of purification; but I have received several valuable indications about it. It appears that the process of purification was connected with a feeling of an unpleasant task{7} for the souls, or perhaps of an uncomfortable sojourn in the underworld, which was necessary to purify them gradually.


It may be justifiable to designate this in a sense as "punishment"; but it has to be distinguished from the human idea of punishment in that its purpose is not to do harm, but to provide a necessary preliminary for purification. The ideas of hell, hellfire, etc., current in most religions can be explained in this way but must be qualified in part. The souls to be purified learnt during purification the language spoken by God Himself, the so-called "basic language," a somewhat antiquated but nevertheless powerful German, characterized particularly by a wealth of euphemisms for instance, reward in the reverse sense for punishment, poison for food, juice for venom, unholy for holy, etc. God Himself was called "concerning Him Who is and shall be" — meaning eternity — and was addressed as "Your Majesty's obedient servant"). Purification was called "testing"; souls which had not yet undergone the process of purification were not, as one would expect, called "non-tested souls," but the exact reverse, namely "tested souls," in accordance with the tendency to use euphemisms. The souls still undergoing the process of purification were variously graded as "Satans," "Devils," " Assistant Devils," "Senior Devils," and "Basic Devils"; the latter expression particularly seems to point to an abode in the underworld. The "Devils," etc., when set down as "fleeting-improvised-men," had a peculiar color (perhaps carrot-red) and a peculiar offensive odor, which I experienced a number of times in the so-called Pierson Asylum in Coswig (which I heard called the Devil's Kitchen). For instance I saw Mr. v. W. and a Mr. von O., whom we had met in the East Coast resort Warnemunde, as Devils with peculiar red faces and red hands, and Mr. W. as a Senior Devil.


I learnt that Judas Iscariot had been a Basic Devil for his betrayal of Jesus Christ. But one must not imagine these Devils as powers inimical to God as in the ideas of the Christian religion, for almost without exception they had already become thoroughly God-fearing, although they were still undergoing the process of purification. The above statement that God used the German language in the form of the so-called "basic language," is not to be understood as though the state of Blessedness was reserved only for Germans. Nevertheless the Germans were in modern times (possibly since the Reformation, perhaps ever since the migration of nations) God's chosen people whose language God preferred to use. In this sense God's chosen peoples in history — as the most moral at a given time — were in order the old Jews, the old Persians (these in an outstanding degree, about whom more will be said below), the "Greco-Romans" (perhaps in ancient Greece and Rome, perhaps also as the "Franks" at the time of the Crusades) and lastly the Germans. God readily understood the languages of all nations by contact with their nerves.{8}


The transmigration of souls also seems to have served the purpose of purifying human souls and was widespread, as a number of experiences lead me to believe. In this process the human souls concerned were called to a new human life on other planets, presumably by being born in the manner of a human being, perhaps retaining some dim memory of their earlier existence. I dare not say anything more definite about this, nor whether the transmigration of souls served only the purposes of purification or other purposes as well |the populating of other planets?). From the voices that speak to me, as well as in other ways, I learnt of a number of persons to whom in after life a much lower station was allotted than they had held in the previous one, perhaps as a kind of punishment.


Particularly noteworthy was the case of Mr. v. W., whose soul for a long time profoundly influenced my relation with God and therefore my personal fate, as Flechsig's soul does to this very day{9} .During my stay in Pierson's Asylum (the "Devil's Kitchen"), von W. held there the position of senior attendant — not as a real human being but, as I thought then and think still, as a "fleeting-improvised-man," that is to say as a soul temporarily given human shape by divine miracle. He was said to have already led a second life as the "Insurance Agent Marx" on some other planet during the process of transmigration of souls.


Souls completely cleansed by the process of purification ascended to heaven and so gained the state of Blessedness. This consisted of uninterrupted enjoyment combined with the contemplation of God. The idea of perpetual idleness is unbearable for a human being, because man is accustomed to work and, as the proverb says, it is only work which makes life sweet for him. But one must remember that souls are different from human beings and therefore it is not permissible to gauge their feelings by human standards.{10} Souls' greatest happiness lies in continual reveling in pleasure combined with recollections of their human past. They were able to exchange their recollections and by means of divine rays — borrowed for this purpose, so to speak — obtain knowledge about the conditions of persons still living on earth in whom they were interested, their relatives, friends, etc., and probably even help raise them up after death to attain to the state of Blessedness. But the souls' own happiness was not clouded by learning of their relatives' unhappy state on earth. For although the souls could retain the memory of their own human past, they could not for any length of time retain new impressions which they received as souls. This natural tendency of souls to forget would soon have erased any new adverse impressions. There were gradations within the state of Blessedness according to the staying power which nerves concerned had achieved in their human life, and probably also according to the number of nerves which were deemed worthy of being raised to heaven.


The male state of Blessedness was superior to the female state; the latter seems to have consisted mainly in an uninterrupted feeling of voluptuousness. Further, the soul of a Goethe, a Bismarck, etc., is likely to have retained its self-consciousness (knowledge of its own identity) for centuries, while the soul of a child which died young, might only have preserved it for the same number of years as it had lived. It was granted to no human soul to remain aware for all eternity of having been this or that human being. It was rather the ultimate destiny of all souls to merge with other souls, and integrate into higher entities, remaining aware only of being part of God ("forecourts of heaven"). This shows that they did not perish — as far as this goes souls were granted eternal existence — it was a continued life but with a different awareness. Only a narrowminded person would find this an imperfection in the state of Blessedness — compared with personal immortality in the sense of the Christian religion. What purpose could it have served the soul to remember the name it once bore among men and its earlier personal relationships, when not only its children and grandchildren had long since gone to eternal rest, but numerous other generations had gone to their graves as well, and perhaps even the nation to which it once belonged had been struck off the roll of living nations. Thus while still in Flechsig's Asylum I became acquainted with rays — that is to say complexes of blessed human souls merged into higher entities — belonging to the old Judaism ("Jehovah rays"), the old Persians ("Zoroaster rays") and the old Germans ("Thor and Odin rays") among which certainly not a single soul remained with any awareness of the name under which it had belonged to one or other of these peoples thousands of years ago{11}. 


God Himself dwelt above the "forecourts of heaven"; He was also called the "posterior realms of God" in contradistinction to these "anterior realms of God." The posterior realms of God were (and still are) subject to a peculiar division, a lower God (Ariman) and upper God (Ormuzd) being distinguished. I know nothing more about the further significance of this partition,{12} except that the lower God (Ariman) seems to have felt attracted to nations of originally brunette race (the semites) and the upper God to nations of originally blond race (the Aryan peoples). It is significant that a hint of this division is found in the religious notions of many peoples. Identical with Ormuzd are Balder of the Germans, Bielebog (the white God) or Swantewit of the Slavs, Poseidon of the Greeks and Neptune of the Romans; identical with Ariman are Wodan (Odin) of the Germans, Czernebog (the black God) of the Slavs, Zeus of the Greeks and Jupiter of the Romans. I first heard of the lower and the upper God as Ariman and Ormuzd from the voices that talk to me at the beginning of July 1894 (perhaps at the end of my first week in this Asylum); since then I have heard these names daily{13}. This date coincided with the depletion of the anterior realms of God with which I had previously been in contact (perhaps from the middle of March 1894).


The above picture of the nature of God and the continued existence of the human soul after death differs markedly in some respects from the Christian views on these matters. It seems to me that a comparison between the two can only favor the former. God was not omniscient and omnipresent in the sense that He continuously saw inside every individual living person, perceived every feeling of his nerves, that is to say at all times "tried his heart and reins." But there was no need for this because after death the nerves of human beings with all the impressions they had received during life lay bare before God's eye, so that an unfailingly just judgment could be reached as to whether they were worthy of being received into the realms of heaven. In any case it was always possible for God to get to know the inner person through nerve-contact, whenever the need arose. On the other hand the picture I have drawn lacks any of the features of severity, of purposeless cruelty imprinted on some of the notions of the Christian and in a  still greater degree on those of other religions. The whole Order of the World therefore appears as a "miraculous structure,"'{14} the sublimity of which surpasses in my opinion all conceptions which in the course of history men and peoples have developed about their relation to God.
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This "miraculous structure" has recently suffered a rent, intimately connected with my personal fate. But it is impossible even for me to present the deeper connections in a way which human understanding can fully grasp. My personal experiences enable me to lift the veil only partially; the rest is intuition and conjecture. I want to say by way of introduction that the leading roles in the genesis of this development, the first beginnings of which go back perhaps as far as the eighteenth century, were played on the one hand by the names of Flechsig and Schreber (probably not specifying any individual member of these families), and on the other by the concept of soul murder.


To start with the latter: the idea is widespread in the folklore and poetry of all peoples that it is somehow possible to take possession of another person's soul in order to prolong one's life at another soul's expense, or to secure some other advantages which outlast death. One has only to think for example of Goethe's Faust, Lord Byron's Manfred, Weber's


Frieschütz, etc. Commonly, however, the main role is supposed to be played by the Devil, who entices a human being into selling his soul to him by means of a drop of blood, etc. for some worldly advantages; yet it is difficult to see what the Devil was to do with a soul so caught, if one is not to assume that torturing a soul as an end in itself gave the Devil special pleasure.


Although the latter idea must be relegated to the realm of fable because the Devil as a power inimical to God does not exist at all according to the above, yet the wide dissemination of the legend motif of soul murder or soul theft gives food for thought; it is hardly likely that such ideas could have been formed by so many peoples without any basis in fact. The voices which talk to me have daily stressed ever since the beginning of my contact with God (mid-March 1894) the fact that the crisis that broke upon the realms of God was caused by somebody having committed soul murder; at first Flechsig was named as the instigator of soul murder but of recent times in an attempt to reverse the facts I myself have been "represented" as the one who had committed soul murder. I therefore concluded that at one time something had happened between perhaps earlier generations of the Flechsig and Schreber families which amounted to soul murder; in the same way as through further developments, at the time when my nervous illness seemed almost incurable, I gained the conviction that soul murder had been attempted on me by somebody, albeit unsuccessfully.


L'appetit vient en mangeant: it is therefore quite possible that after the first, more soul murders were committed on the souls of other people. I will leave open the question whether the first soul murder was really the moral responsibility of a human being; much of this remains mysterious. Originally perhaps it was a battle arising out of jealousy between souls already departed from life. Both the Flechsigs and the Schrebers belonged, it was said, to "the highest nobility of heaven"; the Schrebers had the particular title "Margraves of Tuscany and Tasmania," according to the souls' habit of adorning themselves with high-sounding worldly titles from a kind of personal vanity. Several names of both families are concerned: of the Flechsigs particularly Abraham Fürchtegott Flechsig, Professor Paul Theodor Flechsig, and a Daniel Fürchtegott Flechsig; the latter lived towards the end of the eighteenth century and was said to have been an "Assistant Devil" because of something that had happened in the nature of a soul murder. However that may be, it is certain that I was in contact for some time with the nerves of Professor Paul Theodor Flechsig and of Daniel Fürchtegott Flechsig (whether with the former also in his quality as a soul?) and had parts of their souls in my body. The soul of Daniel Fürchtegott Flechsig vanished years ago (flitted away); part at least of Professor Paul Theodor Flechsig's soul (i.e. a certain number of nerves originally with the consciousness of Professor Paul Theodor Flechsig's identity, which however in the meantime had become very much reduced) still exists as a "tested soul" in heaven. The only knowledge I possess of the Flechsig family tree comes from what was said by the voices that talk to me; it would therefore be interesting to find out whether there had actually been a Daniel Fürchtegott Flechsig and an Abraham Fürchtegott Flechsig among the forebears of the present Professor Flechsig.


I presume that at one time a bearer of the name Flechsig —  a human being carrying that name — succeeded in abusing nerve-contact granted him for the purpose of divine inspiration or some other reasons, in order to retain his hold on the divine rays. This is naturally only an hypothesis, but as in scientific research it has to be adhered to until a better explanation for the events under investigation is found. It seems very probable that contact with divine nerves was granted to a person who specialized in nervous illnesses, partly because he would be expected to be a highly intellectual person, partly because everything concerning human nerves must be of particular interest to God, starting with His instinctive knowledge that an increase of nervousness among men could endanger His realms. Asylums for the mentally ill were therefore called in the basic language "God's Nerve-Institutes." If the above-mentioned Daniel Fürchtegott Flechsig was the first to offend against the Order of the World by abusing contact with divine nerves, this would not be contradicted absolutely by the same man being called a Country Clergyman by the voices that talk to me, because at the time when Daniel Fürchtegott Flechsig was supposed to have lived — in the eighteenth century about the time of Frederick the Great{15} — public Asylums for the insane were not yet in existence.


One would therefore have to imagine that such a person, engaged in the practice of nervous diseases — having perhaps another profession besides — believed he had at some time seen miraculous visions in a dream and experienced miraculous things, which he felt an urge to investigate further, either out of ordinary human curiosity or keen scientific interest. He need not necessarily have known at the outset that he was in direct or indirect contact with God. He may have tried to recall these dream visions in subsequent nights and so have discovered that they really did return during sleep in the same or perhaps slightly different form supplementing the earlier information. Naturally interest was heightened particularly as the dreamer may have learnt that these communications came from his own forebears, who lately had been outstripped in some way or other by members of the Schreber family. He may then have tried to influence the nerves of his contemporaries by exerting his will power after the fashion of thought readers — such as Cumberland, etc. — and he may thus have found that this was possible to a certain extent. He may have resisted breaking off the contact into which divine rays had directly or indirectly entered with him, or made it dependent on conditions which could not be denied him, considering the souls' natural weakness of character compared with that of living men, and in any case it was not thought possible to keep up permanent nerve-contact with a single human being. One can imagine that in this way something like a conspiracy may have arisen between such a person and the elements of the anterior realms of God to the detriment of the Schreber race, perhaps in the direction of denying them offspring or possibly only of denying them choice of those professions which would lead to closer relations with God such as that of a nerve specialist. In view of what was said above about the constitution of the realms of God and the (limited) omnipresence of God, such events need not necessarily have come to the knowledge of the posterior realms of God immediately. The conspirators —  to retain this expression — perhaps succeeded in silencing possible scruples about allowing nerve-contact to be made with members of the Schreber family in an unguarded moment such as occurs sometime in everybody's life, in order also to convince the next higher instance of the hierarchy of God's realms that one Schreber soul more or less did not matter in the face of danger threatening the very existence of the realms of God{16}. In this way it may have come about that one did not immediately and resolutely oppose efforts inspired by ambition and lust for power, which could possibly lead to soul murder — if such a thing exist — that is to say to the surrender of a soul to another person perhaps for prolonging earthly life, for appropriating his mental powers, for attaining a kind of por-sonal immunity or some other advantage. On the other hand one may have underrated the danger even for the realms of God which this entailed. One felt so possessed of immense power that the possibility of one single human being ever becoming a danger to God Himself was not taken into consideration. I have in fact not the least doubt from what I later learned and experienced of God's miraculous power that God —  provided that conditions in accordance with the Order of the World prevailed — would at any time have been able to annihilate an embarrassing human being by sending him a fatal illness or striking him with lightning.


Perhaps one did not think it necessary to proceed immediately with the most drastic measures against the presumed soul murderer, while his trespass consisted at first only of abuse of contact with divine nerves, and the eventuality of soul murder seemed remote, and if the person's merit and moral conduct were such that it seemed unlikely that it would come to such an extremity. Apart from these hints I cannot enlarge on the essential nature of soul murder or, so to speak, its technique. One might only add (the passage which follows is unfit for publication). I am sure that the person, whether it was the present Professor Flechsig or one of his forebears, who must take the blame for being the original instigator of "soul murders," must have had some notion of the supernatural matters which I have now come to know, although he certainly did not penetrate to a deeper knowledge of God and the Order of the World. It is inconceivable that anybody who has won a profound faith in God and the certainty that in any case he is definitely guaranteed a state of Blessedness commensurate with the purity of his nerves should think of violating other people's souls. It is equally unlikely that this should have happened in the case of a person who could be called religious if only in the sense of our positive religion. I do not know what the present Professor Flechsig's attitude to religious matters was or is. Should he be or have been, a doubter, as so many others are today, he could not be blamed, least of all by myself who, I must confess, belonged to that category myself until divine revelation taught me better.


Whoever has taken the trouble of reading the above attentively may spontaneously have thought that God Himself must have been or be in a precarious position, if the conduct of a single human being could endanger Him in any way and if even He Himself, if only in lower instances,{17} could be enticed into a kind of conspiracy against human beings who are fundamentally innocent. Such an objection may not be altogether unjustified but I must not omit to add that my own faith in the grandeur and sublimity of God and the Order of the World was not shaken. Not even God Himself is or was a being of such absolute perfection as most religions attribute to Him. The power of attraction, this even to me unfathomable law, according to which rays and nerves mutually attract one another, harbors a kernel of danger for the realms of God; this forms perhaps the basis of the Germanic saga of the Twilight of the Gods. Growing nervousness among mankind could and can increase these dangers considerably. God, as already mentioned, saw living human beings only from without; as a rule His omnipresence and omniscience did not extend within living man. Even God's eternal love existed only for creation as a whole. As soon as there is a clash of interests with individual human beings or nations (Sodom and Gomorrah for instance!) perhaps even with the whole population of a planet (through an increase of nervousness or immorality), the instinct of self-preservation must be aroused in God as in every other living being. Ultimately that of course is perfect which serves its own particular purpose, even if human imagination could picture a still more ideal condition.{18} This purpose was nevertheless achieved: for God eternal joy at His creation, for human beings the joy of life during their earthly existence, and after death the greatest happiness, the state of Blessedness. It is quite unthinkable that God would have denied any single human being his share in the state of Blessedness as every increase of the "forecourts of heaven" could only serve to increase His own power and strengthen His defenses against the dangers of His approaching mankind. No clash of interests between God and individual human beings could arise as long as the latter behaved according to the Order of the World. If despite this such a clash of interests arose in my case because of supposed soul murder, this can only be due to such a marvelous concatination of events{19} as probably never before happened in the history of the world, and I hope will never happen again. Even in such an extraordinary case the Order of the World carries its own remedies for healing the wounds inflicted upon it; the remedy is Eternity. Whilst I had earlier (for about two years) believed I had to assume and was forced by my experiences to assume, that if God were permanently tied to my person, all creation on earth would have to perish with the exception of some play-with-miracles in my immediate surroundings, I have had reason lately to modify this idea considerably.


Some people were made very unhappy; I may say that I myself lived through cruel times and endured bitter sufferings. On the other hand six years of uninterrupted influx of God's nerves into my body has led to the total loss of all the states of Blessedness which had accumulated until then and made it impossible for the time being to renew them; the state of Blessedness is so to speak suspended and all human beings who have since died or will die can for the time being not attain to it. For God's nerves also it is unpleasant and against their will to enter into my body, shown by the continual cries for help which I daily hear in the sky from those parts of the nerves which have become separated from the total mass of nerves. All these losses can however be made good again insofar as an Eternity exists, even though total restoration of the previous state may take thousands of years.
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The content of the Chapters 1 and 2 was a necessary preliminary to what follows. What could so far only partially be put up as axiomatic, will now be proved as far as at all possible.


I will first consider some events concerning other members of my family, which may possibly in some way be related to the presumed soul murder; these are all more or less mysterious and can hardly be explained in the light of usual human experience.


(The further content of this chapter is omitted as unfit for publication.)
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I come now to my personal fortunes during the two nervous illnesses which I have suffered. I have twice had a nervous illness, each time in consequence of mental overstrain; the first (while Chairman of the County Court of Chemnitz) was occasioned by my candidature for parliament, the second by the extraordinary burden of work on taking up office as President of the Senate of a Court of Appeal in Dresden, to which I had been newly appointed.


The first of the two illnesses commenced in the autumn of 1884 and was fully cured at the end of 1885, so that I was able to resume work as Chairman of the County Court at Leipzig to which I had in the meantime been transferred on 1st January 1886. The second nervous illness began in October 1893 and still continues. I spent the greater part of both illnesses in the Psychiatric Clinic of the University of Leipzig under the Directorship of Professor Flechsig, the first time from early December 1884 to the beginning of June 1885, the second time from about the middle of November 1893 till about the middle of June 1894. In each case when first I entered the Asylum I had not the faintest idea of an antagonism existing between the Schreber and Flechsig families, nor of the supernatural matters of which I have treated in the preceding chapters.


The first illness passed without any occurrences bordering on the supernatural, and while it lasted, I had on the whole only favorable impressions of Professor Flechsig's methods of treatment. Some mistakes may have been made. Even in the course of that illness I was and still am of the opinion that white lies, which a nerve specialist may perhaps not be able to dispense with altogether in the case of some mental patients, but which he must nevertheless employ only with the greatest circumspection, were hardly ever appropriate in my case, for he must soon have realized that in me he was dealing with a human being of high intellect, of uncommon keenness of understanding and acute powers of observation. Yet I could only consider it a white lie when, for instance, Professor Flechsig wanted to put down my illness solely to poisoning with potassium bromide, for which Dr. R. in S., in whose care I had been before, was to be blamed. I believe I could have been more rapidly cured of certain hypochondriacal ideas with which I was preoccupied at the time, particularly concern over loss of weight, if I had been allowed to operate the scales which served to weigh patients a few times myself; the scales used in the University Clinic at the time were of a peculiar construction unfamiliar to me. All the same these are only minor points on which I place little importance; perhaps it is unreasonable to expect the Director of a big Asylum with hundreds of patients to concern himself in such detail with the mental state of a single patient. The main point was that I was eventually cured lafter a prolonged convalescence), and therefore I had at the time no reason to be other than most grateful to Professor Flechsig; I gave this special expression by a subsequent visit and in my opinion an adequate honorarium. My wife felt even more sincere gratitude and worshiped Professor Flechsig as the man who had restored her husband to her; for this reason she kept his picture on her desk for many years.


After recovering from my first illness I spent eight years with my wife, on the whole quite happy ones, rich also in outward honors and marred only from time to time by the repeated disappointment of our hope of being blessed with children. In June 1893 I was informed (in the first place by the Minister of Justice, Dr. Schurig in person) of my impending appointment as Senatsprasident to the Superior Court in Dresden.


During this time I had several dreams to which I did not then attribute any particular significance, and which I would even today disregard as the proverb says "Dreams are mere shadows," had my experience in the meantime not made me think of the possibility at least of their being connected with the contact which had been made with me by divine nerves. I dreamt several times that my former nervous illness had returned; naturally I was as unhappy about this in the dream, as I felt happy on waking that it had only been a dream. Furthermore, one morning while still in bed (whether still half asleep or already awake I cannot remember), I had a feeling which, thinking about it later when fully awake, struck me as highly peculiar. It was the idea that it really must be rather pleasant to be a woman succumbing to intercourse. This idea was so foreign to my whole nature that I may say I would have rejected it with indignation if fully awake; from what I have experienced since I cannot exclude the possibility that some external influences were at work to implant this idea in me.


On the 1st of October 1893 I took up office as Senatsprasident to the Superior Court in Dresden. I have already mentioned the heavy burden of work I found there. I was driven, maybe by personal ambition, but certainly also in the interests of the office, to achieve first of all the necessary respect among my colleagues and others concerned with the Court (barristers, etc.) by unquestionable efficiency. The task was all the heavier and demanded all the more tact in my personal dealings with the members of the panel of five Judges over which I had to preside, as almost all of them were much senior to me (up to twenty years), and anyway they were much more intimately acquainted with the procedure of the Court, to which I was a newcomer. It thus happened that after a few weeks I had already overtaxed myself mentally. I started to sleep badly at the very moment when I was able to feel that I had largely mastered the difficulties of settling down in my new office and in my new residence, etc. I started taking sodium bromide. There was almost no opportunity for social distraction which would certainly have been very much better for me — this became evident to me when I slept considerably better after the only occasion on which we had been asked to a dinner party —  but we hardly knew anybody in Dresden. The first really bad, that is to say almost sleepless nights, occurred in the last days of October or the first days of November. It was then that an extraordinary event occurred. During several nights when I could not get to sleep, a recurrent crackling noise in the wall of our bedroom became noticeable at shorter or longer intervals; time and again it woke me as I was about to go to sleep. Naturally we thought of a mouse although it was very extraordinary that a mouse should have found its way to the first floor of such a solidly built house. But having heard similar noises innumerable times since then, and still hearing them around me every day in day-time and at night, I have come to recognize them as undoubted divine miracles — they are called "interferences" by the voices talking to me — and I must at least suspect, without being too definite about it, that even then it was already a matter of such a miracle; in other words that right from the beginning the more or less definite intention existed to prevent my sleep and later my recovery from the illness resulting from the insomnia for a purpose which cannot at this stage be further specified .{20}


My illness now began to assume a menacing character; already on the 8th or 9th of November Doctor O., whom I had consulted, made me take a week's sick leave, which we were going to use to consult Professor Flechsig, in whom we placed all our faith since his successful treatment of my first illness. Because it was a Sunday and Professor Flechsig would not be available, we (my wife and I) traveled via Chemnitz and spent the night from Sunday to Monday with my brother-in-law. That evening I was given an injection of morphine, and for the first-time chloral during the night — perhaps accidentally not in the dosage ordered right away; the previous evening I suffered as severely from palpitation as in my first illness, so that walking up only a moderate incline caused attacks of anxiety. The night in Chemnitz was also bad. Early the following day (Monday) we traveled to Leipzig and from the Bavarian Station by cab direct to Professor Flechsig at the University Clinic, having advised him of our visit the day before by telegram. A long interview followed in which I must say Professor Flechsig developed a remarkable eloquence which affected me deeply. He spoke of the advances made in psychiatry since my first illness, of newly discovered sleeping drugs, etc., and gave me hope of delivering me of the whole illness through one prolific sleep, which was to start if possible at three o'clock in the afternoon and last to the following day.


My mood thereupon became steadier, also perhaps because traveling through the fresh morning air for several hours and the time of day (morning) might have strengthened my nerves a little. We went right away to the chemist to fetch the sleeping drug prescribed, then had a meal with my mother at her house, and I spent the rest of the day quite bearably, going for a little walk amongst other things. Naturally I did not get to bed (in my mother's house) as early as 3 o'clock, but I possibly according to some secret instruction which my wife had received) it was delayed until the 9th hour. More serious symptoms developed again immediately before going to bed. Unfortunately the bed was cold because it had been aired too long, with the result that I was immediately seized by a severe rigor and was already in a state of great excitement when I took the sleeping drug. Because of this the sleeping drug failed almost entirely in its effect, and after one or more hours my wife also gave me the chloral hydrate which was kept at hand in reserve. Despite this I spent the night almost without sleep, and once even left the bed in an attack of anxiety in order to make preparations for a kind of suicidal attempt by means of a towel or suchlike; this woke my wife who stopped me. The next morning my nerves were badly shattered; the blood had gone from my extremities to the heart, my mood was gloomy in the extreme and Professor Flechsig, who had been sent for early in the morning, therefore advised my admission into his Asylum, for which I set out immediately by cab accompanied by him.


After a warm bath I was at once put to bed, which I did not leave again for the next 4 or 5 days. A certain R ... was assigned to me as attendant. My illness progressed rapidly during the following days; the nights passed mostly without sleep because the weaker sleeping drugs (camphor, etc.) which were tried first so as to avoid the permanent use of chloral hydrate from the beginning, failed to act. I could not occupy myself in any way; nor did I see anybody of my family. I passed the days therefore in endless melancholy; my mind was occupied almost exclusively with thoughts of death. It seems to me in retrospect that Professor Flechsig's plan of curing me consisted in intensifying my nervous depression as far as possible, in order to bring about a cure all at once by a sudden change of mood. At least this is the only way I can explain the following event, which I could otherwise only attribute to malicious intent.{21}


About the fourth or fifth night after my admission to the Asylum, I was pulled out of bed by two attendants in the middle of the night and taken to a cell fitted out for dements (maniacs) to sleep in. I was already in a highly excited state, in a fever delirium so to speak, and was naturally terrified in the extreme by this event, the reasons for which I did not know. The way led through the billiard room; there, because I had no idea what one intended to do with me and therefore thought I had to resist, a fight started between myself clad only in a shirt, and the two attendants, during which I tried to hold fast to the billiard table but was eventually overpowered and removed to the above-mentioned cell. There I was left to my fate; I spent the rest of the night mostly sleepless in this cell, furnished only with an iron bedstead and some bedding. Regarding myself as totally lost, I made a naturally unsuccessful attempt during the night to hang myself from the bedstead with the sheet. I was completely ruled by the idea that there was nothing left for a human being for whom sleep could no longer be procured by all the means of medical art, but to take his life. I knew that this was not permitted in Asylums, but I labored under the delusion that when all attempts at cure had been exhausted, one would be discharged — solely for the purpose of making an end to one's life either in one's own home or somewhere else.


I was therefore greatly surprised when on the following morning the doctor still carne to see me. Professor Flechsig's Assistant Physician, Dr. Tauscher appeared, and told me that there was no intention whatsoever of giving up treatment; this, coupled with the manner in which he tried to raise my spirits again — I cannot deny him also my appreciation of the excellent way he spoke to me on that occasion — had the effect of a very favorable change in my mood. I was led back to the room I had previously occupied and spent the best day of the whole of my (second) stay in Flechsig's Asylum, that is to say the only day on which I was enlivened by a joyful spirit of hope. Even the attendant R. behaved most tactfully and skillfully in his whole conservation, so that in retrospect I sometimes asked myself whether he also had received higher inspirations (in the same way as Dr. Tauscher). In the morning I even played billiards with him, had a hot bath in the afternoon and maintained my better mood until the evening. They were going to see whether I could sleep entirely without sleeping drugs. Indeed I went to bed relatively calm, but could not get to sleep. After a few hours I could no longer remain calm; the rush of blood to my heart again caused attacks of anxiety. After the change-over of attendants — an attendant sat constantly by my bed and was relieved by another in the middle of the night — something to make me sleep was eventually given —  "Nekrin" or some such name — and I must have fallen asleep for a short while, which however no longer strengthened my nerves in any way. On the contrary my nerves were shattered again the following morning, indeed so badly that I vomited the breakfast. A particularly terrifying impression was created in me by the totally distorted features which I thought I could see on the attendant R. when I awoke.


From then on I was regularly given chloral hydrate every night, and the following weeks were at least outwardly a little calmer, because in this way moderate sleep was usually procured. My wife visited me regularly and in the last two weeks before Christmas I spent part of every day at my mother's house. But the hyper-excitability of my nerves remained and got worse rather than better. In the weeks after Christmas I went for a drive every day with my wife and the attendant. But I was so weak that when I got out of the carriage (in Rosenthal or in Scheibenholz) every little distance of a few hundred paces seemed a hazard on which I could not decide without inner anxiety. In other respects too my whole nervous system was in a state of utter laxity. I could hardly, if at all, manage any intellectual occupation such as reading newspapers. Even mainly mechanical occupations such as jig-saw puzzles, patience and suchlike increased my nervous tension to such a degree that I usually had to stop after a short time; I could scarcely even play a few games of checkers with the attendant R ... in the evening. During that time I mostly ate and drank well and was still in the habit of smoking several cigars a day. The laxity of my nerves increased with the simultaneous reappearance of states of anxiety, whenever they again tried giving me weaker sleeping drugs instead of chloral hydrate, which, although it strengthens the nerves temporarily, nevertheless damages them if used for any length of time. My will to live was completely broken; I could see nothing in the future but a fatal outcome, perhaps produced by committing suicide eventually; as to the plans for the future with which my wife tried again and again to raise my spirits, I could only shake my head in disbelief.


A further decline in my nervous state and an important chapter in my life commenced about the 15th of February 1894 when my wife, who until then had spent a few hours every day with me and had also taken lunch with me in the Asylum, undertook a four-day journey to her father in Berlin in order to have a holiday herself, of which she was in urgent need. My condition deteriorated so much in these four days that after her return I saw her only once more, and then declared that I could not wish my wife to see me again in the low state into which I had fallen. From then on my wife's visits ceased; when after a long time I did see her again at the window of a room opposite mine, such important changes had meanwhile occurred in my environment and in myself that I no longer considered her a living being, but only thought I saw in her a human form produced by miracle in the manner of the "fleeting-improvised-men." Decisive for my mental collapse was one particular night; during that night I had a quite unusual number of pollutions (perhaps half a dozen).


From then on appeared the first signs of communication with supernatural powers, particularly that of nerve-contact which Professor Flechsig kept up with me in such a way that he spoke to my nerves without being present in person. From then on I also gained the impression that Professor Flechsig had secret designs against me; this seemed confirmed when I once asked him during a personal visit whether he really honestly believed that I could be cured, and he held out certain hopes, but could no longer — at least so it seemed to me — look me straight in the eye.


I must now discuss the nature of the frequently mentioned inner voices which since then have spoken to me incessantly, and also of what in my opinion is the tendency innate in the Order of the World, according to which a human being ("a seer of spirits") must under certain circumstances be "unmanned" (transformed into a woman) once he has entered into indissoluble contact with divine nerves (rays). The next chapter is devoted to an exposition of these circumstances; this is, however, infinitely difficult.
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Apart from normal human language there is also a kind of nerve-language of which, as a rule, the healthy human being is not aware. In my opinion this is best understood when one thinks of the processes by which a person tries to imprint certain words in his memory in a definite order, as for instance a child learning a poem by heart which he is going to recite at school, or a priest a sermon he is going to deliver in Church. The words are repeated silently (as in a silent prayer to which the congregation is called from the pulpit), that is to say a human being causes his nerves to vibrate in the way which corresponds to the use of the words concerned, but the real organs of speech (lips, tongue, teeth, etc.) are either not set in motion at all or only coincidentally.


Naturally under normal (in consonance with the Order of the World) conditions, use of this nerve-language depends only on the will of the person whose nerves are concerned; no human being as such can force another to use this nerve - language{22} In my case, however, since my nervous illness took the above-mentioned critical turn, my nerves have been set in motion from without incessantly and without any respite.
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